FILED March 2, 2015 Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

Case No. 328163

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

JAMES BLAIR

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC.; BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEM, INC.; FEDERAL HOME LOAN MORTGAGE CORPORATION; and DOE DEFENDANTS 1 through 20

Defendants/Appellees.

PLAINTIFF JAMES BLAIR OPENING BRIEF ON APPEAL

Melissa A. Huelsman, WSBA #30935

Law Offices of Melissa A. Huelsman, P.S. 705 Second Avenue, Suite 601 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 447-0103 Attorney for Plaintiff/Appellee James Blair

INTRODUCTION

This is a case which demonstrates the manner in which mortgage loan servicers continue to avoid the clear requirements of the Deed of Trust Act, RCW 61.24, *et seq.* ("DTA"), in order to more swiftly bring a nonjudicial foreclosure to the detriment of Washington property owners. Mr. Blair defaulted on his mortgage loan because the income from his title insurance company business faltered significantly with the recession in 2009. After default and his income began to increase again, Mr. Blair sought to bring his loan current and save his home by seeking a loan modification, but while Mr. Blair was engaging in those efforts, his loan servicer, Bank of America, N.A ("BANA"), initiated a non-judicial foreclosure without the legal authority do so under Washington law.

The record in this case is replete with the Defendants/Appellees' violations of the Deed of Trust Act in furtherance of their attempts to improperly foreclose on Mr. Blair's home nonjuidcially. These violations include intentional misrepresentations of the identity of the owner and holder of Mr. Blair's Promissory Note and the authority of Northwest Trustee Services to conduct a non-judicial foreclosure of Mr. Blair's home. Most significantly, no evidence was presented to the trial court which demonstrated that BANA was, at any time, the beneficiary of Mr. Blair's promissory note pursuant to the Deed of Trust Act or was anything more

than the loan servicer and custodian of the promissory note for Freddie Mac. Unfortunately, the trial court conflated BANA's status as loan servicer and custodian of the note with being a beneficiary, actual holder, and owner of the promissory note.

Because BANA was not the beneficiary of Mr. Blair's promissory note, it had no lawful authority to appoint Northwest Trustee Services as a foreclosure trustee and to direct Northwest Trustee to pursue a non-judicial foreclosure of Mr. Blair's home. Despite its knowledge that Bank of America was not a lawful beneficiary of Mr. Blair's promissory note, Northwest Trustee Services still initiated a non-judicial foreclosure of Mr. Blair's home. Involved in their pursuit of a non-judicial foreclosure of Mr. Blair's home was Northwest Trustee Services and BANA's public recording of a number of foreclosure- related documents that contained the false assertion that BANA was the beneficiary of Mr. Blair's promissory note and that Northwest Trustee Services was a lawfully appointed foreclosure trustee. BANA and Northwest Trustee's Services' conduct was especially unfair and deceptive considering that both parties were aware of the identity of the true beneficiary of Mr. Blaire's promissory note, the Federal Home Mortgage Loan Corporation ("Freddie Mac").

Contrary to the determination made by the trial court, Defendant/Appellees' deceptive and misleading conduct constituted both a

2

Consumer Protection Act violation and was negligent misrepresentation.

Importantly, the Washington State Supreme Court recently held that a case with nearly identical facts, *Lyons v. U.S. Bank Nat. Ass'n*, raised sufficient issues of material fact to warrant remand to the trial court for reconsideration of its grant of Northwest Trustee Services' Motion for Summary Judgment. *Lyons v. U.S. Bank Nat. Ass'n*, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014). Based on *Lyons* and other recent case law, the trial court's decision in this case should be reversed.

STANDARD ON REVIEW

An appellate court should independently determine whether the findings of fact support the conclusions of law. *Crystal China and Gold Ltd. v. Factoria Center Investments, Inc.*, 93 Wn.App. 606, 610, 969 P.2d 1093 (1999); *American Nursery Products, Inc. v. Indian Wells Orchards,* 115 Wn.2d 217, 222, 797 P.2d 477 (1990); *Martin v. Seattle,* 111 Wn.2d 727, 733, 765 P.2d 257 (1988); and *Persing, Dyckman & Toynbee, Inc. v. George Schofield Co., Inc.,* 25 Wn.App. 580, 582, 612 P.2d 2 (1980). Here, the trial court's factual findings are completely disconnected from the evidence provided and the standard articulated by the binding authority on these subjects. Conclusions of law are reviewed *de novo*, as are the application of the facts to the law. *Id.; see also, Skamania County v. Columbia River Gorge Commission,* 144 Wn.2d 30, 42, 26 P.3d 241 (2001).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The issues in this case are as follows:

- 1. If BANA was merely the custodian of Mr. Blair's Promissory Note, was it a "beneficiary" or "noteholder" as defined under Washington law? RCW 61.24.005(2).
- 2. If BANA was merely the custodian of Mr. Blair's Promissory Note, could it prove it was the "owner" of the loan by signing the Beneficiary Declaration, which states that it is an "actual holder" *or* has requisite authority under RCW 62A.3-301 to enforce said obligation..."?
- 3. If BANA was not a "beneficiary", an "actual holder," or an "owner" of Mr. Blair's Promissory Note, did it have the legal authority under Washington law to initiate a nonjudicial foreclosure?
- 4. If BANA did not have the legal authority to initiate a nonjudicial foreclosure based upon Mr. Blair's Promissory Note and Deed of Trust, is it liable to Mr. Blair's under the Consumer Protection Act ("CPA")? RCW 19.86, *et seq.* And if so, did Mr. Blair prove the elements of a CPA claim?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Blair is a resident of Wenatchee and a business owner in the city. CP 35-68. He has owned his home for more than 25 years. *Id.* He purchased the Residence by obtaining a mortgage loan, which was eventually refinanced when he obtained a new mortgage loan from Countrywide on September 10, 2008. *Id.* In connection with that loan, Mr. Blair signed a Promissory Note which was payable to Countrywide ("Promissory Note"). *Id.* He also signed a Deed of Trust ("Blair Deed of Trust"), which listed Countrywide as the Lender and Defendant Mortgage

Electronic Recording System ("MERS") as the purported "beneficiary". CP 45-52.

Ownership of Mr. Blair's promissory note was transferred to Freddie Mac on September 25, 2008. CP 698-699. Bank of America, N.A. ("BANA) and its predecessors Countywide Home Loans Servicing, LP and BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP have acted only as document custodians and loan servicers of the promissory note. Freddie Mac enters into agreements with loan servicers wherein loan servicers take possession of promissory notes and hold them for the benefit of Freddie Mac in their vault facilities. CP 1020-1051. No evidence was presented at the trial court that BANA or its predecessors were the actual holder or owner of the promissory note, but rather, evidence was presented which indicated that BANA and its predecessors had "possession" of the note through a custodial agreement with Freddie Mac and held it for the benefit of Freddie Mac. CP 1142.

Mr. Blair owns and operates a title insurance company. CP 35-41. As a result of the problems in the mortgage market beginning in 2008, Mr. Blair's business fell off significantly and he began to experience very serious financial problems. CP 35-41. He struggled to pay his business and personal expenses, but by August of 2010, he fell behind on his mortgage payments. *Id.* At that time, he was making his payments to Defendant BANA's predecessor, BAC Home Loan Servicing because he had received communications from that entity about its servicing of the loan, including monthly statements. *Id*.

Through 2011 and 2012, Mr. Blair applied for a loan modification through BANA's predecessor. CP 35-68. Mr. Blair submitted multiple rounds of loan modification documents to BANA only to be continually told that he needed to submit more documents or that his loan modification was being denied because he did not submit the correct documents. *Id*.

While Mr. Blair was trying to bring his loan current through a loan modification, Defendants/Appellees were advancing a foreclosure of his. home. On August 1, 2011, an Assignment of Deed of Trust was executed, which purported to assign the beneficial interest in the Blair Deed of Trust to BAC Home Loan Servicing from MERS. CP 918. The Assignment was signed and purportedly notarized in Ventura County, California on August 1, 2011 by one Yomari Quintanilla, an alleged Vice President of Defendant MERS. *Id.* Plaintiff maintained, based upon information and belief, that Ms. Quintanilla is actually an employee of Defendant Bank of America. The Assignment was recorded in the records of Chelan County, Washington on August 2, 2011. *Id.*

Subsequent to this Assignment, an Appointment of Successor Trustee document was recorded in the records of Chelan County, Washington on March 7, 2012. CP 920. This document was purportedly signed and dated October 18, 2011 in Dallas County, Texas by an Angela Hopson, Assistant Vice President of Defendant Bank of America. *Id.* This document purports to appoint Defendant NWTS as a successor trustee. *Id.*

On March 19, 2012, NWTS issued a Notice of Default. CP 922-925. The Notice of Default identified Freddie Mac as the owner of the promissory note and Bank of America, N.A. as the loan servicer. *Id.* NWTS issued a Notice of Trustee's Sale on April 24, 2012. CP 927-932. The Notice of Trustee's Sale set a sale date for August 3, 2012. *Id.* The Notice of Trustee's Sale identified BAC Home Loan Servicing, LP fka Countrywide Home Loans Servicing, LP as the "beneficiary" of the deed of trust. *Id.*

In order to issue the Notice of Trustee's Sale, NWTS relied upon declarations from Bank of America, which stated that BANA was the "actual holder of the promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust *or* has requisite authority under RCW 62A.3-301 to enforce said obligation..." CP 505; 515; 562; 566. Mr. Blair maintained throughout the proceedings that NWTS knew the loan was owned by Freddie Mac and that BANA was nothing more than the loan servicer.

When Mr. Blair realized that he was facing the foreclosure of his home, he contacted a lawyer, Ms. Huelsman, to obtain an understanding of his rights under Washington law, to determine if help was available to obtain a loan modification, and to attempt to stop the foreclosure sale of his home. CP 1094-1095. Mr. Blair paid \$350 for an initial consultation with Ms. Huelsman. *Id.* Mr. Blair then retained Ms. Huelsman to obtain a hearing on a motion for restraining order and later a hearing on a motion for preliminary injunction in order to stop the trustee's sale of his home. *Id.* Mr. Blair paid Ms. Huelsman \$5,000 for this work. *Id.* Mr. Blair signed a separate contingency fee retainer for Ms. Huelsman to work on his affirmative case relating to the wrongful attempted foreclosure of his home. *Id.* Mr. Blair also paid expenses associated with Ms. Huelsman's work in restraining the sale. *Id.*

Mr. Blair took time off of work to help transport Ms. Huelsman to Chelan County to attend the hearing on the temporary restraining order. *Id.* Mr. Blair also had to pay expenses to transport Ms. Huelsman to the hearing, for parking at the hearing, and for the costs of delivering copies of the pleadings to the trustee in advance of the hearing. *Id.* Those costs are estimated to be \$595.83. *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I. There were genuine issues of material fact that remained to be determined with respect to Mr. Blair's Consumer Protection Act ("CPA") claim against Defendant/Appellees.

The law regarding CPA causes of action is fairly clear and settled.

A cause of action is available if the claim satisfies five elements: "(1) [an] unfair or deceptive act or practice; (2) occurring in trade or commerce; (3) public interest impact; (4) injury to plaintiff in his or her business or property; (5) causation.' "*Klem v. Wash. Mut. Bank*, 176 Wn.2d 771, 782, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013) (alteration in original) (quoting *Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co.*, 105 Wash.2d 778, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986)).

The Washington Supreme Court has recently and repeatedly reiterated the availability of a CPA cause of action for a violations of the Deed of Trust Act ("DTA"). *Frias v. Asset Foreclosure Services, Inc.*, 181 Wn.2d 412, 334 P.3d 529 (2014); *Lyons*, 336 P.3d 1142; *Bain v. Metro. Mortg. Grp., Inc.*, 175 Wn.2d 83, 119, 285 P.3d 34 (2012); *Klem v. Wash. Mut. Bank*, 176 Wn.2d 771, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013). These cases articulate the necessity under Washington law to conform to the strict parameters of the DTA at all times or face liability.

In *Frias* and *Lyons*, the Supreme Court rejected the argument that plaintiffs may bring direct claims for violations of the DTA pre-foreclosure, but it reiterated its previous decisions and in fact strengthened its position on the bringing of claims for violations of the CPA predicated upon violations of the DTA requirements. The Court also made clear that any claims that are otherwise available under an existing body of law may be brought predicated upon violations of the requirements of the DTA. In *Frias*, the Supreme Court stated: "even when there is no completed foreclosure sale and no allegation that plaintiff has paid foreclosure fees, it is possible for a plaintiff to suffer injury to business or property caused by alleged DTA violations that could be compensable under the CPA." *Frias* 181 Wn.2d at 18, citing to *Panag v. State Farm Ins. Co. of WA*, 166 Wn.2d 27, 57 (2009); *Lyons*, 336 P.3d at 1142.

Numerous other DTA cases decided by the Supreme Court require that language in the DTA be construed strictly in the homeowner's favor because it eliminates many protections enjoyed by borrowers in judicial foreclosures. *Bain*, 175 Wn.2d. at 93 (citing *Udall v. T.D. Escrow Servs., Inc.*, 159 Wn.2d 903, 915-16, 154 P.3d 882 (2007)); see also Schroeder v. *Excelsior Management Group, LLC*, 177 Wn.2d 94, 105, 297 P.3d 677 (2013) (same); *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Servs.es of Washington, Inc.,* 174 Wn.2d 560, 567, 276 P.3d 1277 (2012) (same). The DTA "must be construed in favor of borrowers because of the relative ease with which lenders can forfeit borrowers' interests and the lack of judicial oversight in conducting non-judicial foreclosure sales." *Bain,* 175 Wn.2d. at 93.

- A. Defendant/Appellees engaged in unfair and deceptive conduct in their attempts to conduct a non-judicial foreclosure of Mr. Blair's home.
- 1. BANA was only a servicer and custodian for the promissory note at

issue.

The evidence presented to the trial court established that BANA and its predecessors have been servicers and custodians of the promissory note since September, 2008. It is undisputed that Freddie Mac has been the owner of Mr. Blair's promissory note since September, 2008. CP 698-699. The Declaration of Brieanne Siriwan, submitted in support of BANA's Motion for Summary Judgment states:

> On or about September 25, 2008, Freddie Mac became the owner of the Loan and Original Note was placed in storage with Countrywide Home Loans Servicing, LP fka Countrywide Home Loan Servicing LP (now Bank of America, N.A. by merger) for the benefit of Freddie Mac an in accordance with Freddie Mac guidelines.

> At all times from September 25, 2008, to the present, the Original Note has been in the *possession* of Bank of America, N.A., successor by merger to BAC Home Loans Servicing, LP fka Countrywide Home Loans Servicing LP.

CP 1142 (emphasis added). It is notable that Ms. Siriwan's Declaration does not state that Bank of America is the holder, actual holder, owner of the promissory note, but rather, that it has *possession* of the note. *Id.* This makes it clear that BANA maintains possession of the Promissory Note as a document custodian for Freddie Mac, as is consistent with Freddie Mac's business practices, but does not have the authority over the note involved in being an actual holder or owner of a promissory note.

Freddie Mac's Document Custody Procedures Handbook ("Freddie Mac Custody Procedures") establishes that it is the practice of Freddie Mac to take possession of promissory notes through loan custodians, but to retains ownership and continue to hold the promissory note in all meaningful respects. The Freddie Mac Servicing Guide ("servicing guidelines") states that "the Seller/Servicer selling Mortgages to Freddie Mac must deliver the original Notes for such Mortgages to a Document Custodian..." CP at 1020. The Freddie Mac Custody Procedures establishes that its loan custodians hold promissory note "in trust" for "sole benefit" of Freddie Mac. CP 1046. The servicing guidelines state that a custodian's duties are limited to the following:

- 1. Maintaining custody and control of the original Notes and assignments on behalf of Freddie Mac. If the Seller/Servicer delivers supplemental documents, such as original modifying instruments, the Document Custodian must place the supplemental documents with the related original Notes.
- 2. Holding the Notes and assignments in secure, fire-resistant facilities as described in Section 18.2(b).
- 3. Affixing the Freddie Mac loan number to the Note, if advised by the Seller/Servicer that Freddie Mac requires it. If the Note for a Mortgage contains the Freddie Mac loan number, changing the Freddie Mac loan number on a Note if advised in writing by the Seller/Servicer that Freddie Mac has changed the Freddie Mac loan number for the related Mortgage.
- 4. Making available for review by Freddie Mac (or its designee), at any time during normal business hours, with or without prior notice, the Notes and assignments and related storage facilities,

maintenance and release procedures, and control and tracking mechanisms, and other evidence of compliance with eligibility requirements as requested.

- 5. Making the custodial staff available for interview by Freddie Mac or its designee, at any time during normal business hours, with or without prior notice, for an assessment of the staff's familiarity with and adherence to Freddie Mac's custodial requirements and the Document Custodian's internal controls.
- 6. Indemnifying Freddie Mac for such losses as may occur as a result of any negligence by the Document Custodian in the performance of its duties under the Guide pertaining to Notes and assignments held for Freddie Mac and Form 1035, Custodial Agreement: Single-Family Mortgages, and Form 1035DC, Designated Custodial Agreement: Single- Family Mortgages.
- Providing, in an electronic format acceptable to Freddie Mac, an accounting of all Notes held for Freddie Mac as described in Section 18.2

CP at 1022. In addition, the Freddie Mac Custody Procedures directs its custodians:

Do not enter into any understanding, agreement or relationship with any party to obtain, retain or claim any interest, including ownership or security, in Mortgage owned by Freddie Mac, unless specifically approved of in writing, in advance by us.

CP at 1046.

The Freddie Mac Custody Procedures and Servicing Guidelines make it clear that its document custodians have no right to take any action or make any decisions with respect to the promissory note they hold. Instead, they simply act as a vault facility for Freddie Mac's benefit with no authority over the promissory notes they maintain possession of. Therefore, BANA's role as document custodian for the true owner and beneficiary of the promissory note, Freddie Mac, did not render BANA a holder or actual holder of the promissory note.

The trial court's ruling was based solely on its belief that BANA "held" the "requisite documents at all relevant times to the attempted foreclosure in this case." CP at 1147-1150. This ruling was improper because BANA only presented evidence that it had possession of the Promissory Note as a custodian, not that it actually held the Promissory Note. The trial court's ruling improperly conflated possession of a promissory note with the holding of a promissory note. Id. But, the custodian/servicer of a promissory note is an entirely different party with a different relationship to а promissory note than an actual holder/owner/beneficiary. As will be discussed below, it is the owner/beneficiary that has the authority to perform key functions under the DTA foreclosure process and, importantly, has the incentive to negotiate and work with the borrower/homeowner to avoid foreclosure.

2. BANA did not have the authority to appoint NWTS as a successor trustee.

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