MAY 1 8 2015 
COURT 01.' f,l'FE.~,L" 


DIVISION IH 

STATE OF WASIII NlTl UN 
No. 328163-III By__', ____.•_•. ,_,_, 

DIVISION III, COURT OF APPEALS 
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

JAMES C. BLAIR, II, 


Plaintiffs-Appellants 


v. 


NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC., BANK OF AMERICA, 

N.A., MORTGAGE ELECTRONIC REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC., 


FEDERAL HOME LOAN MORTGAGE CORPORATION and DOE 

DEFENDANTS 1 through 20, 


Defendants-Respondents 

ON APPEAL FROM CHELAN COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT 
(Hon. Lesley A. Allan) 

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF 


John S. Devlin III, WSBA No. 23988 
Attorneysfor Defendants-Respondents 
Bank ojAmerica, NA., Mortgage 
Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., and

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

resulted from defendant's acts); Seattle Rendering Works, Inc. v. Darling

Delaware Co., 104 Wn.2d 15, 701 P.2d 502 (1985) (unless plaintiffs are 

injured, they cannot prevail under the CPA). A plaintiff must also plead 

and prove that there is a causal link between the alleged misrepresentation 

or deceptive practice and his purported injury. Indoor Billboard v. Integra 

Telecom, 162 Wn.2d 59,81-82,170 P.3d 10 (2007). 

In Indoor Billboard, the court employed the proximate cause 

standard set forth in WPI 15.01 for CPA claims, which requires a plaintiff 

to prove that "but for" the defendant's allegedly unfair or deceptive 

practice, the plaintiff would not have been harmed. The failure to 

establish even one of these elements is fatal to a plaintiff's claim. 

Hangman Ridge, 105 Wn.2d at 793, 719 P.2d 531. "A claim under the 

CPA based on violations of the [deed of trust act] must meet the same 

requirements applicable to any other CPA claim." Lyons, 181 Wn.2d at 

785,336 P.3d at 1147-48. 
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There is no case law or statutory basis for damages for the 

wrongful initiation of a foreclosure sale. See Frias, 181 Wn.2d at 420, 

334 P.3d 529 ("We then analyze whether the DTA implies a cause of 

action for damages premised on DTA violations absent a completed 

foreclosure sale, and we conclude it does not."); Vawter v. Quality Loan 

Serv., 707 F. Supp. 2d 1115, 1123-24 (W.D. Wash. 2010) ("Interjecting a 

cause of action for damages for wrongful institution of nonjudicial 

foreclosure proceedings into the [Deed of Trust's Act's] scheme would 

potentially upset the balance struck by the legislature."); Piau v. Wash. 

Mut. Inc., No. CV-08-00142-1LQ, 2009 WL 484448, at *12 (RD. Wash. 

Feb. 24, 2009) ("There is no case law supporting a claim for damages for 

the initiation of an allegedly wrongful foreclosure sale. There is simply no 

statutory basis supporting a claim for damages for wrongful institution of 

foreclosure proceedings.") (citing Kreinke v. Chase Home Fin., No. 

35098-0-JI, 2007 WL 2713737 (Wash. App. Sept. 18,2007»; Henderson 

v. GMAC Mortg.,No. C05-5781RBL, 2008 WL 1733265, at *5 (W.D. 

Wash. Apr. 10, 2008) ("illegal foreclosure" claim fails because "no 

foreclosure ever occurred"), affd 347 Fed. Appx. 299 (9th Cir. 2009) 

(plaintiffs could not recover on their illegal foreclosure claim absent 

foreclosure.); Bain v. OneWest Bank, FSB., No. C09-0149-1CC, 2011 

WL 917385, at *6 nA (W.D. Wash. Mar. 15, 2011) ("The Deed of Trust 
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Act does not authorize a cause of action for damages for the wrongful 

institution of a nonjudicial foreclosure proceeding where no trustee's sale 

has occurred."). 

In his brief, Blair asserts that his CPA claim is based on allegations 

that Bank of America violated the deed of trust act. (AOB p. 9) As 

discussed above at pp. 22-37 supra, none of the conduct alleged violated 

the deed of trust act. Even if it did, however, Blair would still need to 

satisfy all of the other requirements of the Act. He cannot do so. 

Blair fails to explain how the actions of Bank of America caused 

him any injuries. (AOB p. 25) Critically, Blair admits that he defaulted 

on his loan, which led to the initial of foreclosure. (CP 616) He does not 

contend that he cured his default. Blair does not contend that the 

foreclosure was wrongful, just that it was implemented by the improper 

party. (See AOB generally) Blair does not assert that he was prejudiced 

by the conduct of Bank of America. Blair signed the note and deed of 

trust agreeing to pay his debt and he failed to do so. Thus, any injury he 

suffered was caused by his own failure to make monthly payments. For 

these reasons, as well, summary judgment was correctly granted in favor 

of Bank of America on Blair's CPA cause of action. 
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1. 	 Blair's CPA Claim Is Based Upon His Assertion That Bank 
Of America Violated The Deed Of Trust Act; However, 
Because Bank Of America Was The Note Holder, It Did 
Not Violate The Deed Of Trust Act. 

In his brief, Blair argues that his CPA claim is grounded in his 

assertion that Bank of America violated the deed of trust act [AOB p. 9]; 

however, because Bank of America did not violate the deed of trust act, 

this claim fails. As Bank of America has proven, it did not violate the 

deed of trust act, because it held the note at all times relevant to the 

foreclosure proceeding. (CP 1142) It was also the beneficiary under the 

deed of trust. (CP 918) Moreover, Freddie Mac gave Bank of America 

the right to enforce the note. (CP 650) 

Each party involved in the non-judicial foreclosure of Blair's 

property acted in strict compliance with the statute and honestly and 

accurately portrayed itself and its relationship to the deed of trust. 

Additionally, MERS was not involved in the nonjudicial foreclosure 

having previously assigned its interest under the deed of trust. Both the 

deed of trust act and established Washington Supreme Court precedent 

agree that Bank of America acted in concert with the act at all times. 

Bank of America, as the note holder, satisfied the statutory definition of 

beneficiary and was the party authorized to appoint a successor trustee and 

initiate the foreclosure proceedings. Therefore, any claimed CPA 
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violation predicated on an alleged violation of the deed of trust act is 

meritless. 

2. 	 The Presence Of MERS In The Deed Of Trust Does Not 
Constitute A Per Se Violation Of The CPA. 

The Washington Supreme Court has held that the mere fact that 

MERS is listed on the deed of trust is not per se actionable injury under 

the CPA. Bain, 175 Wn.2d at 117,285 P.3d 34. In the wake of Rain, 

Courts have frequently rejected generic and conclusory MERS-based 

allegations where the plaintiff has not alleged facts showing that MERS 

had a causal role in their claimed injuries. See, e.g., Kullman v. Northwest 

Trustee Services, Inc., No. 12-cv-5852-RBL, 2012 WL 5922166, at *2 

(W.D. Wash. Nov. 26, 2012) ("Plaintiffs have failed to allege any 

prejudice arising from MERS's role in the foreclosure."); Burkart v. 

Mortgage Elec. Registration Sys., Inc., No. Cll-1921RAJ, 2012 WL 

4479577, at *5 (W.D. Wash. Sept. 28, 2012) ("If the Burkarts want to 

plead one or more claims based on MERS' improper designation as the 

beneficiary in their deed of trust, they must provide sufficient allegations 

to establish that they have been injured."); Mickelson v. Chase Home Fin. 

LLC, No. CII-1445 MJP, 2012 WL 5377905, at *2-3 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 

31, 2012) (refusing to reconsider prior orders dismissing CPA claims 

based in part on characterizing MERS as beneficiary where plaintiffs 
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could not make plausible claims of injury); Amresco Independence 

Funding, Inc. v. SPS Props., LLC, 129 Wn. App. 532, 119 P.3d 884 

(2005) ("Despite the strict compliance requirement, a plaintiff must show 

prejudice before a court will set aside a trustee sale."); Koegel v. 

Prudential Mutual Sav. Bank, 51 Wn. App. 108, 752 P.2d 385 (1988) 

(declining to set aside trustee's sale despite trustee's failure to comply 

with the deed of trust act's notice requirements because plaintiff had not 

shown prejudice). 

"An appellate court will not consider a claim of error that a party 

fails to support with legal argument in their opening brief." Jackson, 2015 

WL 1542060, at *3. 

In his complaint, Blair contended that MERS was not a proper 

beneficiary to the deed of trust and that "none of the Defendants has the 

ability to alter the definitions provided for in the deed of trust act by 

calling an entity such as Defendant MERS the 'beneficiary' when in fact, 

Defendant MERS is never the beneficiary' of any rights under the Deed of 

Trust." (CP 6) Blair also argued that MERS recorded a false document 

inferring that it possessed a beneficial interest in the deed of trust. (CP 

1065) 

However MERS's role was limited to being appointed under the 

deed of trust and recording an assignment transferring its interest in the 
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deed of trust. (CP 624-25, 918) The Washington Supreme Court has 

ruled that MERS does not meet the statutory definition of "beneficiary" 

with respect to Washington deeds of trust where MERS is identified as 

beneficiary in a nominee capacity for the lender and lender's successors 

and assigns when MERS is not the holder of the underlying promissory 

note, and that a borrower may be able to make a claim under the CPA if 

they can establish that they were actually harmed by MERS's 

appointment. Bain, 175 Wn.2d at 89, 285 P.3d 34. The Supreme Court, 

however, did not declare that deeds of trusts are void due to the mere 

involvement of MERS, or that assignment of deeds of trust are ineffective 

or fraudulent, where MERS is making the assignment as an agent of the 

beneficiary. Moreover, a borrower must demonstrate an injury caused by 

MERS in order to establish a CPA claim against MERS. Blair cannot 

establish this requirement. Accordingly, he cannot sustain a CPA claim 

against MERS. 

Although Blair made this argument in his complaint and in 

response to the motion for summary judgment, he abandoned it on appeal 

by failing to raise it in his brief. Regardless of his failure to make the 

argument on appeal, it is apparent that the presence of MERS in the deed 

of trust does not constitute a violation of the CPA where the plaintiff 

cannot allege prejudice arising from it. Blair does not allege that he 
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suffered any injury related to MERS's appearance on the deed of trust. 

Blair did not demonstrate that MERS made any misrepresentations that 

caused him any injury at all. Therefore, MERS was entitled to summary 

judgment on Blair's cause of action under the CPA. 

3. 	 Blair Was Not Injured By The Conduct Of Bank Of 
America. 

To demonstrate a violation of the CPA, Blair was required to show 

that he was injured by Bank of America's conduct. Blair could not do so; 

thus, where he could not demonstrate an essential element of his claim, the 

court correctly granted summary judgment. (See AOB generally) 

In contrast, Blair claims that foreclosure was improperly initiated. 

As explained above at pp. 26-34 supra, Blair's argument stems from an 

erroneous belief that Bank of America is not the beneficiary under the 

deed of trust, not because Blair was current in his monthly payments. In 

fact, Blair has openly admitted that he failed to make the required 

payments in a timely manner. (CP 6) The foreclosure resulted from 

Blair's default, not from the actions of Bank of America. Therefore, the 

foreclosure was initiated on Blair's home solely as a result of his admitted 

default. Blair caused his own injury, and thus, he has not suffered any 

injury that would give rise to a CPA claim. Therefore, he cannot satisfy 

the "but for" standard of causation required under the CPA. 
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C. Blair's Intentional Misrepresentation Cause Of Action Fails 
Because He Does Not Specifically Assert Any Misrepresentation 
That He Relied Upon To His Detriment. 

To state a claim for fraud a plaintiff must allege: "(1) A 

representation of an existing fact, (2) its materiality, (3) its falsity, (4) the 

speaker's knowledge of its falsity or ignorance of its truth, (5) his intent 

that it should be acted on by the person to whom it is made, (6) ignorance 

of its falsity on the part of the person to whom it is made, (7) the latter's 

reliance on the truth of the representation, (8) his right to rely upon it, 

[and] (9) his consequent damage." Kirkham v. Smith, 106 Wn. App. 177, 

183,23 P.3d 10 (2001); see also Stiley v. Block, 130 Wn.2d 486,505,925 

P.2d 194 (1996). "In alleging fraud or mistake, a party must state with 

particularity the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake." Fed. R. 

Civ. P. 9(b). "The complaining party must plead both the elements and 

circumstances of fraudulent conduct." Haberman v. Washington Pub. 

Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107,165,744 P.2d 1032 (1987) (citing 3A 

L. Orland, Wash. Prac. 129 (3d ed.1980)). The statute of limitations for 

fraud is three years. RCW 4.16.080(4). 

As stated above at pp. 22-37 supra, Blair failed to demonstrate that 

Bank of America made a false representation of material fact. 

Additionally, Blair failed to explain how he relied to his detriment on any 

alleged misrepresentation. (CP 1068) Nor did Blair demonstrate that he 
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suffered any damage as a result of any so-called misrepresentation. (ld.) 

As a result, Bank of America was entitled to summary judgment on Blair's 

cause of action for intentional misrepresentation. 

In his brief, Blair contends that "Defendants/Appellees supplied 

false information to Mr. Blair and the public at large when they indicated 

through publicly recorded documents that BANA, not Freddie Mac, was 

the beneficiary of Mr. Blair's deed of trust/promissory note and had 

authority to appoint NWTS as a foreclosure trustee." (ADB p. 28) He 

asserts that this conduct caused him pecuniary damage because he had to 

hire an attorney to investigate and stop the non-judicial foreclosure of his 

property. (ld.) 

Blair's argument is once again based on his assertion that Bank of 

America violated the deed of trust act. As discussed above at pp. 22-37 

supra, Bank of America and Freddie Mac complied with the deed of trust 

act in instituting the nonjudicial foreclosure. They did not misrepresent 

the roles of either party in the foreclosure. Moreover, MERS played no 

role in initiating the foreclosure, nor did Blair specifically assert that 

MERS made any misrepresentation to him; thus, his cause of action fails. 

Furthermore, any claim of fraud against MERS for its appearance in the 

deed of trust would be barred by the statute of limitations. Additionally, 

as previously discussed at p. 45, Blair could not demonstrate that the 
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actions of Bank of America caused him any injury; thus, the court 

properly granted summary judgment on his cause of action for intentional 

misrepresentation or fraud. 

D. 	 Blair's Cause of Action For Negligent Misrepresentation Fails 
Because He Cannot Identify Any Misrepresentation That He 
Relied On That Caused Him Injury. 

A plaintiff claiming negligent misrepresentation must prove the 

following six elements: (1) that defendant supplied information for the 

guidance of others in their business transactions that was false; (2) that the 

defendant knew or should have known that the information was supplied 

to guide the plaintiff in business transactions; (3) that the defendant was 

negligent in obtaining or communicating false information; (4) that the 

plaintiff relied on the false information supplied by the defendant; (5) that 

the plaintiff's reliance on the false information supplied by the defendant 

was justified (that is, that reliance was reasonable under the surrounding 

circumstances); and (6) that the false information was the proximate cause 

of damages to the plaintiff. Borish v. Russell, 155 Wn. App. 892,905 n.7, 

230 P.3d 646 (2010) (quoting Lawyers Title Ins. Corp. v. Baik, 147 Wn.2d 

536, 545, 55 P.3d 619 (2002)). A claim for negligence or negligent 

misrepresentation is governed by a three-year statute of limitation. 

RCWA 4.16.080(2). 
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All elements of a negligent misrepresentation claim must be 

proven by "clear, cogent, and convincing evidence." Id. "Where the 

correct information is reasonably ascertainable by the complaining party, 

he [or she] may not justifiably rely on the other party's statement." 

Rainier Nat 'I Bank v. Clausing, 34 Wn. App. 441, 446-47, 661 P.2d 1015 

(1983) (affirming dismissal of fraud claim against bank, quoting trial 

court's opinion that complaining party had no right to rely on statements 

by relatively minor bank employee and he could have asked for 

underlying documents). "Moreover, the plaintiff must not have been 

negligent in relying on the representation." Ross v. Kirner, 162 Wn.2d 

493,500, 172 P.3d 701 (2007). 

Blair asserts that the same alleged misrepresentations and damages 

support his claim for negligent misrepresentation. (AOB p. 28) Blair 

again fails to demonstrate that Bank of America made any 

misrepresentations to him. As discussed above at pp. 22-37 supra, Bank 

of America did not violate the deed of trust act in instituting foreclosure 

because it was the holder of the note and lawful beneficiary with the right 

to enforce. Additionally, Blair fails to identify any misrepresentation 

made by MERS or any resultant damage. Any claim for negligent 

misrepresentation against MERS would be barred by the statute of 
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limitations. Blair caused his own damage by failing to pay his mortgage. 

Therefore, Blair's cause ofaction for negligent misrepresentation failed. 

IV. 


CONCLUSION 


The facts of this case are simple, despite what Blair argues in his

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